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          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good morning.

          3  Today the Subcommittee will conduct the second part

          4  of a hearing concerning the supervision of mentally

          5  ill people in the City's outpatient system. The

          6  tragic death of Kendra Webdale, who allegedly was

          7  pushed to her death by Andrew Goldstein, a man, who

          8  according to the media reports, was under outpatient

          9  treatment for schizophrenia, focus intense interest

         10  on the plight of the City's seriously mentally ill

         11  outpatient population.

         12                 Last month, during the first part of

         13  the hearing, the Subcommittee heard from a diverse

         14  group of consumer advocates, union leaders and other

         15  concerned members of the public. They addressed

         16  issues relating the coordination, funding and

         17  overall functioning of our community mental health

         18  system.

         19                 Today we will hear from Dr. Neal

         20  Cohen, who is the Commissioner for the City's

         21  Department of Mental Health, an agency with thorough

         22  extensive contracting process, plays a pivotal role

         23  in the provision of outpatient mental health

         24  services.

         25                 I am pleased that Dr. Cohen has come
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          2  this morning. I have a lot of respect for him and

          3  for the work that he has done even before he came to

          4  New York City's Department of Mental Health as a

          5  psychiatrist. It is probably one of my reasons for

          6  insisting that he comes. It is my intent to work

          7  very diligently with the Administration to make sure

          8  that the state's dollars follow every patient who

          9  comes back to New York City, and that we provide a

         10  network of outpatient services that will survive the

         11  kind of support that the mentally ill needs to

         12  function in communities in which they come to

         13  reside, and so I am pleased to be a partner and to

         14  say to Dr. Cohen, it is out of that partnership and

         15  goodwill that I have asked you to come as the chief

         16  policy maker in the Administration mental health

         17  services.

         18                 So, welcome, good morning, and you

         19  may start your statement.

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Good morning. It

         21  is a pleasure to be here. I will begin to read from

         22  my testimony.

         23                 When there is an event such as the

         24  tragic death of Kendra Webdale, it is natural and

         25  appropriate for the public in general and
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          2  specifically public policy makers in the mental

          3  health arena to do some very serious soul searching

          4  about the mental health system and whether it is

          5  indeed working as it is supposed to.

          6                 We should remind ourselves after such

          7  incidents that it is a misrepresentation to

          8  characterize patients struggling with mental

          9  illness, as generally violent or dangerous.

         10                 We can only compound this tragedy if

         11  we stigmatize all persons of mental illness, based

         12  on the highly unusual behavior of a few.

         13                 Without focusing specifically on the

         14  case of Andrew Goldstein and whether there was some

         15  failure of the system as it applied to him, I do

         16  want to review for you the many mental health

         17  services available in New York City which exists to

         18  assist seriously psychiatrically disabled persons

         19  living in the community, and which are designed to

         20  reduce the occurrence of such tragedies.

         21                 A truly effective continuum of care

         22  for persons with serious mental illnesses in New

         23  York City needs careful resources and careful

         24  planning.

         25                 It also takes place against a legal
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          2  backdrop of state statutes and regulations that

          3  define and assign various responsibilities.

          4                 I would like to begin today by

          5  briefly describing the legal structure, starting

          6  with hospital admission, then discharge and then

          7  outpatient treatment.

          8                 Article 9 of the State Mental Hygiene

          9  Law, is the key section of the law related to both

         10  voluntary and involuntary admissions. Article 9

         11  provides for multiple points of entry into the

         12  inpatient treatment system, including statutes that

         13  give private individuals, including psychiatrists

         14  and other qualified licensed mental health

         15  professionals employed by mobile crisis teams, the

         16  authority to direct the police or EMS to have a

         17  dangerous, mentally ill individual transported to a

         18  hospital emergency room for evaluation and possible

         19  hospitalization.

         20                 For example, under Section 9.37 of

         21  the Mental Hygiene Law, the Department is authorized

         22  to designate community field psychiatrists to direct

         23  such transportation. Over the last several years,

         24  the Department has designated a broad network of

         25  these 9.37 psychiatrists. Recent changes in the law
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          2  embodied in Section 9.58 of the Mental Hygiene Law,

          3  also gives this authority to licensed professionals

          4  of certified mobile crisis teams, including

          5  psychiatrists, social workers, nurses and

          6  psychologists.

          7                 The Department has been similarly

          8  aggressive in training and designating qualified

          9  teams to perform this function. We currently have 73

         10  designated psychiatrists with the authority to

         11  direct police and EMS, to transport individuals to

         12  psychiatric emergency rooms. In 1998, 220 such 9.37

         13  designations were issued, of which 91 were issued by

         14  the Project Help. Ninety-six licensed mental health

         15  professionals currently possess 9.58 designation

         16  authority.

         17                 Moving to the area of discharge

         18  planning, the elements of good clinical practice are

         19  identified in Section 29.15 of the Mental Hygiene

         20  Law, which was the subject of the Koskinas lawsuit.

         21                 In brief, Section 29.15 requires that

         22  the discharging hospital create a realistic,

         23  implementable discharge plan, one that is more than

         24  a piece of paper.

         25                 In our view, this means that the
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          2  outpatient program identified in the discharge plan

          3  must be appropriate for the individual being

          4  discharged and must have a vacancy.

          5                 In addition, Section 29.15 requires

          6  that the discharged patients housing needs be

          7  addressed, and finally, as interpreted by Koskinas,

          8  and consistent with good clinical practice, it means

          9  that the hospital must follow up with the patient to

         10  ensure that he or she has made contact with the

         11  outpatient provider and the housing referral, if

         12  appropriate.

         13                 Following discharge from the

         14  inpatient unit, and the follow-up I just mentioned,

         15  the oversight responsibility then passes to the

         16  outpatient provider, and this responsibility

         17  includes case management services and services to

         18  ensure that the individual is retained in treatment.

         19                 The Department funds many outpatient

         20  or community-based programs to ensure that the

         21  critical discharge linkages are made. Crises are

         22  managed and consumers are supported to assure a

         23  successful transition to the community.

         24                 These programs include mobile crisis

         25  and assertive community treatment or ACT services,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            9

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  Bridger services, intensive and supportive case

          3  management, forensic services, housing services, the

          4  LIFENET program and our bed-tracking system known as

          5  BedTrack, and I will tell you about each one of

          6  these program components.

          7                 To further serve this population, the

          8  Department funds Assertive Community Treatment

          9  teams, or ACT teams, in every borough. These teams

         10  are mobile treatment teams that bring services to

         11  the individual in the community in which he or she

         12  lives.

         13                 ACT staff actively assist consumers,

         14  particularly those who would not usually get

         15  involved in treatment programs, in coping with

         16  psychiatric symptoms, building support networks,

         17  structuring daily activities and carrying out

         18  essential life tasks within the community.

         19                 Interdisciplinary teams, which

         20  include consumer staff, provide services to clients

         21  24 hours a day, seven days a week, in the client's

         22  home and community.

         23                 Services are targeted to the most

         24  seriously ill clients who have experienced several

         25  lengthy psychiatric hospitalizations, those who were
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          2  duly diagnosed with mental illness and substance

          3  abuse and those who have been homeless.

          4                 There are 12 ACT teams in the City

          5  that are serving 670 adult patients, clients, as

          6  well as one ACT team that is designated to serve

          7  seriously emotionally disturbed children and

          8  adolescents and their families.

          9                 While all of our programs seek to

         10  minimize the need for crisis services, such services

         11  must be at the ready. One model, mobile crisis

         12  teams, are intended to provide short-term assistance

         13  to individuals who are experiencing a psychiatric

         14  crisis. This service is designed to resolve crisis

         15  situations within a 24 hour time frame and provide

         16  linkages to appropriate forms of treatment.

         17                 Services provided include psychiatric

         18  assessment, medication, supportive counseling and

         19  information, referral and linkage to appropriate

         20  mental health and other services, and there are 23

         21  mobile crisis teams serving adults throughout the

         22  boroughs currently.

         23                 All crisis intervention-related

         24  services are assisted by the assistance of the

         25  Department's computerized psychiatric bed tracking
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          2  system called BedTrack.

          3                 Beginning in 1996, the Department

          4  developed a telephone-based system which provides

          5  all New York City hospitals with psychiatric

          6  services with the means to quickly locate an

          7  appropriate available bed.

          8                 The beds are classified as either

          9  adult, adolescent, child, geriatric or

         10  detoxification.

         11                 The system is on-line seven days a

         12  week, 24 hours a day. By streamlining the placement

         13  process we are able to ensure that clients do not

         14  fall through the cracks because of delays in

         15  identifying an inpatient facility to meet their

         16  needs.

         17                 Case management services are vital to

         18  safety reintegrating the seriously mentally ill into

         19  the community. The major component of case

         20  management services includes responsibility for

         21  assessment of strengths and needs, coordination of

         22  treatment planning, crisis assistance, linkage to

         23  community resources, monitoring of overall services,

         24  assistance in daily living and obtaining any

         25  services necessary for meeting basic human needs.
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          2                 ACT teams work with the most

          3  seriously disabled clients in the community,

          4  intensive case management programs engage clients

          5  who have previously chosen not to use mental health

          6  services by providing options that are responsive to

          7  their needs and preferences.

          8                 Goals, including reducing

          9  inappropriate inpatient treatment, providing

         10  whatever services or supports are necessary to

         11  prevent or resolve crises in the client's own place

         12  of residence, helping clients to achieve their own

         13  goals concerning where and how to live and helping

         14  clients to achieve their own employment goals and to

         15  make satisfying use of their leisure time.

         16                 The adult intensive case management

         17  program or ICM program, has operated in New York

         18  City since 1988. There are 11 ICM programs which

         19  currently serve 2,112 individuals, utilizing 176

         20  case managers with a staff to client ratio of one to

         21  12.

         22                 Staff are available to their clients

         23  24 hours a day, seven days a week to meet with their

         24  clients at least four times a month.

         25                 There is no time limit on receiving
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          2  this service, and many clients have been enrolled

          3  since the program began.

          4                 The State Office of Mental Health

          5  conducted a five-year study of the program's

          6  effectiveness and found that the program

          7  significantly reduced the client's use of

          8  psychiatric hospitals.

          9                 They also found a decrease in

         10  psychiatric symptoms, a decrease in problem behavior

         11  and a greater use of community resources.

         12                 Another case management program

         13  model, supportive case management, provides services

         14  to persons living in the community diagnosed with a

         15  serious mental illness who require somewhat less

         16  support than those in the ICM program.

         17                 There are 13 New York City SCM

         18  programs which are using a rehabilitation oriented

         19  case management approach, involving the person in

         20  attaining services or supports that he or she would

         21  need to increase their level of functioning in all

         22  domains, and the SCM caseload ratios range from one

         23  to 20 to one to 30 staff to client ratio.

         24                 Of obvious special concern to the

         25  public at large and the Department is the subject of
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          2  the chronically mental ill person who has a serious

          3  criminal history.

          4                 While as you know we do provide

          5  funding for mental health services in our City jail,

          6  we view our special expertise and mission as that of

          7  providing a smooth transition to needed services for

          8  those who are released from both City and State

          9  institutions.

         10                 The City's LINK discharge planning

         11  program, began in 1996 and provides discharge

         12  planning services to selective clients from the City

         13  jail system.

         14                 More specifically, inmates with

         15  possible mental illness are screened, a treatment

         16  plan is drawn up, and depending upon the time

         17  available prior to release, applications for

         18  entitlements are started and community housing,

         19  mental health, medical and social services are

         20  arranged.

         21                 This program is currently composed

         22  for the direct service staff of 12 who serve 1,200

         23  clients a year. The LINK program also has a

         24  component to ensure that clients receive needed

         25  prescription medication, while their Medicaid
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          2  applications are pending.

          3                 As the compliment to the City LINK

          4  discharge planning program, the City LINK transition

          5  program accepts clients who are referred to it by

          6  the LINK discharge team, and provides case

          7  management to the clients when he or she returns to

          8  the community.

          9                 The program follows the client's case

         10  for up to two years after release, and is prepared

         11  to intervene at any time during that two years to

         12  reestablish services in the community as needed.

         13                 This LINK transition also takes

         14  community referrals from the courts, from Probation

         15  and from the police, as well as from the City jail

         16  system. This program is staffed by seven direct

         17  service workers who provide case management to 600

         18  clients per year.

         19                 There is now another LINK program

         20  called the State LINK Transition, which functions

         21  similarly to the City LINK Transition, but it

         22  receives its clients from the State prison system,

         23  rather than from the City jail. The program serves

         24  125 clients a year, and is staffed by four direct

         25  service workers.
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          2                 The final element in our services for

          3  the forensic population currently is a forensic ACT

          4  team, a sort of community treatment team, that will

          5  be implemented in early 1999, and this team will

          6  serve 40 clients in the course of the year. Mental

          7  health ACT teams in New York City have been

          8  effective for years with non-forensic clients,

          9  dedicated forensic ACT teams in other cities have

         10  demonstrated the value in working with people who

         11  are discharged from the forensic system, and we plan

         12  to put this program in place.

         13                 Access to appropriate affordable

         14  housing underlies the successful integration into

         15  and maintenance of community life for persons with

         16  serious psychiatric disabilities.

         17                 The City and State are moving on

         18  several fronts to address this need. In August 1998,

         19  the State Office of Mental Health issued an RFP to

         20  establish 350 supported housing beds and 80

         21  supported SRO beds in New York City. These programs

         22  were authorized in the State's FY '98/'99 budget,

         23  proposals submitted by non-profit organizations have

         24  been evaluated by the State Office of Mental Health

         25  with the Department's assistance and the
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          2  recommendations for funding are awaiting final

          3  approval by the State OMH Commissioner.

          4                 Since early September, a special

          5  committee chaired by Dr. Rosa Gil, the Mayor's

          6  Special Advisor of Policy, has been negotiating with

          7  the Governor's Office to amend and extend the New

          8  York New York Agreement to house homeless mentally

          9  ill individuals.

         10                 As you know, Councilwoman, and you

         11  have been a very strong advocate for this, the first

         12  New York New York Agreement resulted in the creation

         13  of 3,615 housing units and provided more than 9,000

         14  placements of mentally homeless persons into

         15  housing.

         16                 The Department strongly supports full

         17  funding for a continuation and enlargement of this

         18  initiative.

         19                 Another innovative program funded

         20  through reinvestment, what is called the Bridger

         21  model, is designed to assist individuals who are

         22  being discharged to the community from State

         23  Psychiatric Center Inpatient Program. The Bridger

         24  program provides support and linkages to community

         25  services and is designed to ease the transition to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            18

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  community living.

          3                 This program is designed to work in

          4  conjunction with inpatient staff to heighten

          5  clients' awareness of community services, assist in

          6  the development of individualized discharge plans

          7  and to ensure intensive post discharge support and

          8  follow-up.

          9                 Bridger staff initiate services to

         10  the hospitalized clients and continues to support

         11  the individual for up to a year to ensure successful

         12  transition into the community.

         13                 The trusting and direct relationship

         14  between the Bridger Program and the client provides

         15  needed support during the difficult transition to

         16  the community.

         17                 Clients are identified for possible

         18  enrollment in conjunction with the appropriate

         19  inpatient treatment team, discharge planning

         20  committee or other relevant units of the facility.

         21                 In some cases the Bridger Program

         22  engages individuals already discharged from

         23  inpatient services. These clients are identified and

         24  referred by existing community-based mental health

         25  service providers.
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          2                 Bridger teams consist of one

          3  full-time professional staff person and from one to

          4  three full-time equivalent positions are filled by

          5  full or part-time peer specialists, social worker,

          6  assistant level staff or other paraprofessionals.

          7                 Team members are available on an

          8  as-needed basis, including evenings and weekends.

          9                 Caseloads vary, depending on the

         10  severity of the transition issues of the identified

         11  client population, however, it is expected that no

         12  program will exceed a one to 18 staff to client

         13  ratio.

         14                 A Bridger or Bridger type service is

         15  available currently in Brooklyn, Queens and Staten

         16  Island, and the Department has submitted a proposal

         17  to the State in reinvestment year five to fund an

         18  additional program in the Bronx.

         19                 You are probably familiar with our

         20  LIFENET services through the extensive subway public

         21  information campaign. In October 1996 the

         22  Department, in partnership with the Mental Health

         23  Association of New York, initiated the 1-800-LIFNET,

         24  a 24 hour, seven day a week crisis intervention and

         25  referral network for emotional support and substance
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          2  abuse program.

          3                 LIFENET mental health professionals

          4  receive more than 2,000 calls a month and this past

          5  summer created a new number, 1-800-AYUDESE, to serve

          6  Spanish speakers.

          7                 Recognizing that providers can make

          8  better treatment decisions when they have access to

          9  a patient's clinical history, the Department is

         10  currently collaborating with the Health and

         11  Hospitals Corporation, Greater New York Hospital

         12  Association and with the State Office of Mental

         13  Health, to develop a computerized patient history

         14  database.

         15                 What we are calling the Awareness

         16  Line for Emergency Room Treatment System, known as

         17  ALERTS, will inform practitioners at City hospitals

         18  of patient treatment histories, prior diagnoses and

         19  other vital information.

         20                 This is a complex initiative that

         21  will take some time to implement fully, but the

         22  potential benefits are truly enormous.

         23                 Given the movement of the mental

         24  health system toward managed care, it is worth

         25  noting that the Department believes that the
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          2  implementation of Special Needs Plans or SNPs, have

          3  the potential to help keep patients well integrated

          4  into the service delivery system.

          5                 SNPs may result in better coordinated

          6  care to their target population, which is the

          7  seriously and persistently mentally ill. Because

          8  SNPs will be responsible for managing the full array

          9  of services that any individual client may need, the

         10  movement of clients between providers in the care

         11  plans hopefully will be smooth and integrated.

         12                 The service delivery model of the

         13  SNPs ensures that the multiple providers in the life

         14  of an individual client will share a commitment to

         15  following that client.

         16                 Finally, I would like to briefly

         17  discuss the outpatient civil commitment program.

         18                 Many states operate such programs as

         19  an alternative to inpatient treatment, and they have

         20  found that outpatient commitment can be a useful

         21  tool for ensuring that outpatient treatment is

         22  complied with.

         23                 Recently policy research associates

         24  released its final evaluation of the four-year pilot

         25  program at Bellevue Hospital, which targeted the
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          2  recidivistic patients in the history of

          3  non-compliance with mental health treatment. And as

          4  you know, the findings, while not conclusive, were

          5  suggestive of the fact that the program had been

          6  useful in reducing hospitalizations for the vast

          7  majority of patients who received these enhanced

          8  services.

          9                 Many people feared when the program

         10  was implemented that it might serve as a substitute

         11  for adequate outpatient resources. And that it would

         12  put the onus of compliance on the patient who would

         13  risk rehospitalization for noncompliance thereby

         14  relieving the mental health system from its

         15  responsibility to do aggressive outreach and to

         16  adequately support the seriously mentally ill.

         17                 Fortunately this has not turned out

         18  to be so, and the myriad of new programs that we

         19  have developed under reinvestment, more than 250

         20  community-based programs, over the past five years,

         21  serve to ensure that this will not be so.

         22                 Given that, the Department will be

         23  asking the State Legislature to continue and even

         24  expand this program.

         25                 However, our proposal for
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          2  legislation, which will be forthcoming, in the next

          3  several weeks, will place accountability on the

          4  provider to ensure that court ordered outpatient

          5  commitment serves as an adjunct to care that is

          6  coordinated and well tailored to the needs of each

          7  individual patient.

          8                 Consequently we strong believe that

          9  this program can serve as a very worthwhile adjunct

         10  to a strong public mental health system.

         11                 In closing, I would like to note that

         12  the City has had the opportunity to significantly

         13  enhance the mental health safety net with the

         14  resources provided through the Community Mental

         15  Health Reinvestment Act of 1993.

         16                 However, we should be mindful that we

         17  are still catching up with the need for

         18  community-based services that were created by four

         19  decades of deinstitutionalization policies. We have,

         20  nevertheless, made and continue to make I think very

         21  important strides toward creating a model

         22  community-based mental health system in our city.

         23                 Thank you. That concludes my

         24  testimony, and I will be happy to address any

         25  questions you might have.
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          2                 And sitting to my left is Elsie

          3  deCampo, Deputy Commissioner for Program services,

          4  who will also respond to some of your questions

          5  perhaps.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

          7  Commissioner Cohen, for a well coordinated

          8  testimony, and you have touched on just about all

          9  aspects of your agency and the mental health system

         10  in the City of New York.

         11                 I had also asked HHC to send a

         12  representative, because in many communities they are

         13  the first and last resort in terms of mental health

         14  services. If there is anyone here from HHC, you may

         15  identify yourself? All right, there is no one here

         16  from HHC.

         17                 Let me just say that this hearing is

         18  a follow-up to the first hearing we have which is

         19  really to look at the whole system of mental health,

         20  to see where the gaps are in services, and for me,

         21  in particular, to figure out who provides the

         22  services, how they track, especially outpatient

         23  clients who are to receive services.

         24                 So, let me just give you a

         25  broad-based question for all systems that provide
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          2  some form of mental health and where we are

          3  technologically. Is there a way in which we may

          4  track persons with mental illness, whether they are

          5  in the criminal justice system, whether they are in

          6  community-based services, or whether in fact they

          7  are in, assigned to psychiatric outpatient, is there

          8  a way in which you think that the Department of

          9  Mental Health once persons are identified, whether

         10  because we are in a technological age, whether we

         11  have the capacity to identify and to make sure such

         12  persons continue to receive the services that they

         13  need, and whose responsibility you think it ought to

         14  be.

         15                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, that's a

         16  big question. I think I would answer that by

         17  reflecting on the testimony I gave where I presented

         18  programs that we have in place that I think are

         19  reflective of a strong assertive community treatment

         20  approach model, that means that the system is

         21  proactive in reaching out into communities to follow

         22  people who we know because of their mental illness

         23  or mental disability pose a potential risk

         24  themselves, if not to others, and as a treatment

         25  system we want to remain very committed to ensuring
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          2  that they are receiving the treatment services as

          3  well as the support services that they would need to

          4  maintain good quality of life.

          5                 Now, how do we do that.

          6                 I mentioned some of the model

          7  programs that we have in this City. Many of them, as

          8  you heard, have seven day a week, 24-hour capacity.

          9  It is not a coincidence that programs that are very

         10  effective in being able to maintain linkage with

         11  people recognize that people's lives extend beyond

         12  the usual 9:00 to 5:00 hours of most business world.

         13  And recognizing that we as a treatment system to

         14  support people in the community need to have

         15  availability of services that extend into the

         16  weekends and evenings and the availability of crisis

         17  services and an ability to respond to need that may

         18  not fall within the 9:00 to 5:00 hours.

         19                 The assertive community treatment

         20  approach is something that we support. We have

         21  mobile crisis teams, we have ACT teams and we have

         22  different categories of case management programs

         23  that essentially mean that mental health

         24  professionals reach out into people's communities

         25  and can impact more profoundly on their lives by
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          2  seeing that they don't fall into cracks and get lost

          3  in the larger treatment system.

          4                 The success of that, though, really

          5  relies upon our being able to coordinate the

          6  services and the hand-off from inpatient providers,

          7  outpatient treatment providers, and those providers

          8  of services that are necessary to support the

          9  treatment system, including community support

         10  programs, psychosocial clubs, other peer support

         11  programs, and as well as housing providers that

         12  would provide crisis housing at times of need as

         13  well as ongoing supports in the housing structure,

         14  as well as providing some support to settings where

         15  people with mental disabilities would begin to be

         16  engaged in employment opportunities.

         17                 So, it had been the hope that the

         18  creation of Special Needs Plans in the

         19  implementation of the Medicaid Managed Care program

         20  for people with serious and persistent mental

         21  illness would actually bring about a culture of

         22  tight linkage and cooperation between the range of

         23  providers in the system.

         24                 Because the reality is that in this

         25  new model there are economic incentives that place a
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          2  burden on providers to be very committed to keeping

          3  patients well in the community and outside, away

          4  from the more expensive components of the treatment

          5  system, which are the emergency rooms and the

          6  inpatient units, which means that this is a very

          7  good value, this is where the treatment system

          8  always needed to be, but the reality is that the

          9  reimbursement and funding for mental health

         10  treatment services didn't adequately support the

         11  community-based models that I have described here.

         12                 So, at long last, perhaps through

         13  these networks of providers, those community

         14  elements that will support people from saying, keep

         15  people from falling back into the hospital will get

         16  sufficient attention and support. We would identify

         17  funding streams, we will continue in our own

         18  reinvestment plan to look at the services that are

         19  needed in the community to help keep people out of

         20  the hospital. And when I spoke of involuntary

         21  outpatient commitment, I talked about an adjunct to

         22  a best practices model that we now believe we can

         23  define and we can support.

         24                 Perhaps 15 years ago, even ten years

         25  ago, we weren't as sophisticated and as
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          2  knowledgeable about what the needs of people with

          3  serious and persistent mental illness were in order

          4  to maintain good quality of life in the community,

          5  but we don't have that excuse, lack of knowledge

          6  anymore. Unfortunately we have seen what happens

          7  when we don't have those services in place.

          8                 And you know, I think it all has to

          9  be put in context that we have had 40 years of

         10  downsizing of the State psychiatric system,

         11  mid-1950s we had 93,000 beds in this State, today we

         12  have about 4,500, that's about a 93 percent decline

         13  of beds, and we have only started to make a serious

         14  investment in community mental health services since

         15  1993. So, that is a lot of catch-up that we are

         16  playing, but I think we have made some very

         17  significant progress.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: When I asked

         19  about a central -- I don't want to call it a central

         20  registry, but that is probably what it is, of all

         21  known persons in treatment in whatever system they

         22  are, and how do we make sure that their quality of

         23  life -- if somebody ends up in forensic mental

         24  health program, they get treated in the jail for the

         25  short time that they are there, I am trying to look
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          2  at the linkage once they leave, because they leave

          3  jail with two stigmas, one the criminal stigma, and

          4  number two, the mental health stigma.

          5                 How do we ensure and make sure that

          6  they continue to receive the mental health services

          7  that will not return them to jail and that will keep

          8  them well? And I am trying to figure out, can we

          9  design a system that will account for everybody.

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, with

         11  reference to the persons with serious mental illness

         12  who end up in the forensic system, you know, we have

         13  been doing a lot, I think, to recognize that this is

         14  unfortunately a form of transinstutionalization and

         15  that many of the individuals historically who would

         16  have been cared for in State psychiatric settings

         17  end up in our jails and prisons, and unfortunately

         18  they are committing quality of life crimes that

         19  would not require them to end up in jails and

         20  prisons if adequate community mental health services

         21  were in place.

         22                 So, we have, since 1996, made

         23  significant investment in the forensic model in this

         24  link model that I described before, and we continue

         25  to expand that model every year to reach out to more
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          2  borough-based detention centers, to bring more staff

          3  on line, so that discharge planning will take place

          4  in the jail and prison to link people to the kinds

          5  of community service that are needed to help them

          6  not fall back into the criminal justice system where

          7  they really don't belong.

          8                 I should add that the Mayor had

          9  supported a new program model that would provide an

         10  alternative to incarceration in Brooklyn that we are

         11  going to in this coming year put forward an RFP so

         12  that in the arraignment cost even we would have

         13  identification of individuals who are non-violent

         14  offenders who have committed some quality of life

         15  crimes, and to be able to provide them with whatever

         16  crisis support and housing might be needed and then

         17  make sure that they connect to a mental health

         18  service. I think that is a step in an important

         19  direction to keep our mentally ill who are falling

         20  into the criminal justice system, to keep them in

         21  the service system in the community where their

         22  needs can be met. And we have significant

         23  enhancements of this program in so many boroughs.

         24                 With regard to the tracking issue, I

         25  made reference to an ALERTS program, which we are
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          2  going to pilot in northern Manhattan, and we have

          3  called together five hospitals which have shown an

          4  interest in doing this initially on a voluntary

          5  basis, that serve people in Manhattan, such as

          6  Metropolitan and North General Hospital and Harlem

          7  Hospital and Cornell and Columbia Presbyterian, and

          8  what we would like to do, in conjunction with the

          9  state, is to make sure that when people are seen in

         10  the emergency room we have information that is

         11  available from their stays at one of the other

         12  facilities. We know we have histories of their

         13  medical needs, any allergies, any history of

         14  dangerousness, violence, medication needs, and we

         15  can more effectively make clinical judgments that

         16  are responsible to each individual's needs, and we

         17  are going to do that program on a voluntary basis

         18  and encourage individuals to allow us to be able to

         19  track so that that information is available to the

         20  physicians who will be caring for them in the

         21  emergency room.

         22                 And you are correct, technology

         23  information systems that are available today give us

         24  an opportunity to go beyond the burdensome, sort of

         25  medical, the hard copy that often is locked up in
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          2  filing systems and not available when people need to

          3  get at them.

          4                 It's also expected that with the

          5  creation of the Special Needs Plans there is

          6  significant investment in infrastructure among the

          7  providers working within that network to have a very

          8  sophisticated information system and transfer within

          9  the network so that they would be able to track

         10  patients. And these are all things that are

         11  important to accomplish and we would have liked to

         12  have seen years ago, they weren't available because

         13  of the technology and in some instances the fee for

         14  service system didn't provide the economic incentive

         15  to make this happen that our current system is now

         16  moving toward.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let me

         18  acknowledge my colleague Council Member Reed from

         19  the very community that you just identified. He at

         20  least represents one or two of those institutions,

         21  but he has been one of those members of the Health

         22  Committee that has not missed a Mental Health

         23  Committee meeting, and I want to just publicly thank

         24  him for his interest in the issue of mental health

         25  to begin with, and I will give him an opportunity
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          2  later on to address it.

          3                 But I want to ask you, now that you

          4  are going to be doing this pilot program, do you

          5  expect to ask the local elected officials, the

          6  Council Member in particular, in whose district and

          7  who can help you to ease and you know and have

          8  experience that when it comes to mental illness or

          9  homelessness, once there is a pilot program there is

         10  always somebody who says not in my back yard, and I

         11  think that the Council members provide a real base

         12  of support in communities.

         13                 I remember, and Ms. DelCampo will

         14  tell you, about the shelter that should have been

         15  opened right outside my district, and hadn't I been

         16  in front of the issue with mental health, probably

         17  the demonstration would still be going on. People

         18  are now comfortable that not only is mental health

         19  services being provided to some homeless persons

         20  there, but those who are homeless can be monitored

         21  in the community.

         22                 A lot of times we wait until the

         23  community gets all riled up about a facility or any

         24  services that are being planned in that community,

         25  because there is not a true partnership and I would
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          2  suggest that since you are in the thinking stage of

          3  this demonstration project, that you would include

          4  my colleague whom I know is completed committed to

          5  his community and other members who might be,

          6  including the Community Planning Board and everybody

          7  from day one that the program doesn't come out

          8  there, then there is a big fight about what it is

          9  you are trying to do, that everybody is educated

         10  about what you are trying to do because it is

         11  critical.

         12                 In the January 15th hearing, many of

         13  the persons who testified, both providers, as well

         14  as consumers, that the outpatients, there were large

         15  waiting lists and there were people, communities

         16  that were underserved; can you address that? And can

         17  we think of how we might build capacity in the

         18  outpatient mental health system?

         19                 Further, the caseload, if you have

         20  some insight as to how many clients in a caseload

         21  that anyone, a counselor or social worker or whoever

         22  is dealing with that, how many cases can one person

         23  handle, and because when you give me one to 18,

         24  doesn't give me what the average caseload is, and

         25  what would we need to do a better job?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER delCAMPO: Council

          3  Member Clarke, with regard to some of the programs

          4  and their capacity and whether or not there are

          5  waiting lists, we monitor very carefully in the

          6  Department specifically these programs that deal

          7  with hard-to-engage clients to ensure that capacity

          8  is there, so that if there is a need to expand

          9  capacity, it is a top priority for us in

         10  reinvestment plan.

         11                 I can tell you that currently, for

         12  example, the ICM programs, while they are close or

         13  near capacity, there are no waiting lists in those

         14  programs.

         15                 Additionally, our Comprehensive

         16  Outpatient Programs, or COPS agencies and programs

         17  as they are called, there are regulations that very

         18  strictly address their need, if there is a waiting

         19  list, to move up in that waiting list and

         20  immediately address clients who are described as

         21  particularly at risk, those seriously and

         22  persistently mentally ill clients who have had

         23  multiple hospitalizations.

         24                 The expansion of the SCM programs is

         25  something that we are looking and currently doing a
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          2  planning assessment for is another program area that

          3  is somewhat of a step down for the ICM programs, but

          4  that are taking also a number of clients, that while

          5  they do not require the level of case management,

          6  the intensive case management programs provide, do

          7  still require closer case management than clinic

          8  programs are able to provide.

          9                 We also have pending now, in addition

         10  to the 12 programs that we have in Assertive

         11  Community Treatment, the ACT teams, we have two that

         12  are pending. One that will provide an ACT component

         13  in Staten Island, the borough that did not have a

         14  program yet, and a specialty one that was alluded to

         15  by the Commissioner, the Forensic ACT team, which

         16  will be based in Manhattan and will address forensic

         17  clients.

         18                 So, we monitor carefully the capacity

         19  and waiting lists and address that in reinvestment.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: We went to the

         21  forensic end and I mentioned homeless mentally ill;

         22  is there a new effort to identify those persons in

         23  the shelters who are mentally ill and to bring them

         24  into a treatment model that will then give them

         25  supportive housing so that they too can function?
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          2  And if so, can you describe what the plan is for

          3  those?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER delCAMPO: Yes.

          5  Especially in the last two years of reinvestment we

          6  focused extensively on expanding and broadening

          7  clinic services, as well as community-based services

          8  to the forensic population.

          9                 In the area of housing, in year four

         10  there are speciality supported housing beds, I

         11  believe a total of 35, that specifically target the

         12  forensic population.

         13                 We have also provided an expansion of

         14  clinic services with enhancing clinic staffing with

         15  forensic experts in three of the five boroughs, to

         16  work specifically with the forensic populations.

         17                 We have also established through

         18  reinvestment a training program for the police to

         19  better assist them in linking the mentally ill

         20  client with emergency rooms or special mobile crisis

         21  teams to ensure that those clients don't fall

         22  through the cracks or are misrepresented in the

         23  legal system or are not appropriately addressed at

         24  the point where intervention can take place.

         25                 We also have established working with
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          2  our sister agency, the State -- the State has a

          3  specialty forensic ICM team that works, provides

          4  specifically case management, intensive case

          5  management for the forensic population, and within

          6  the housing programs that we have been able to

          7  expand through reinvestment, a total of 700 beds in

          8  the first four years of reinvestment, while 35 are

          9  specifically targeted for forensic, the forensic

         10  mentally ill, that is not to say that those clients

         11  also don't have access to the supported housing

         12  programs for the mentally ill that have been

         13  developed, the other 700 beds.

         14                 With regard to the shelters, the

         15  shelters have a direct link with a number of our

         16  programs that are mental health programs, outreach

         17  programs, that in turn provide the case management

         18  and linkage service to our clinic programs and

         19  housing programs as well. So, we are working very

         20  closely with the Department of Homeless Services in

         21  the establishment of -- and working with them in the

         22  establishment of safe havens, outreach programs to

         23  link those clients who are mentally ill and who have

         24  a mentally ill -- and who are MICA (phonetic)

         25  clients as well, with the appropriate services in
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          2  our system.

          3                 We are working very closely with them

          4  this year and are pleased to note that a number of

          5  their initiatives were included in the homeless MICA

          6  plan in reinvestment year five.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Commissioner, you

          8  gave numbers of persons who over the four decades of

          9  deinstitutionalization of mentally ill persons have

         10  occurred, can you or do you have any history of the

         11  number of housing units of supportive housing that

         12  have been built, especially for those persons who

         13  did not have a family member to come home to, one,

         14  and number two, because that was the goal of

         15  deinstitutionalization to begin with, how do we

         16  account for New York City's fair reinvestment so

         17  that we can build an infrastructure of mental health

         18  services that will provide for every New Yorker who

         19  returns from those institutions to our community.

         20                 And followed up by that, because I

         21  was in Albany to lobby the Governor on mental health

         22  prior to the announcement of the budget and was

         23  hoping that in his budget message would be some

         24  strong signal, a message concerning mental health

         25  and reinvestment and housing and all of that, are we
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          2  privy to know what you are -- or what the

          3  Administration is looking for, lobbying for, and how

          4  together we might make a difference before this

          5  budget cart runs away and then we are left behind?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: It's a long

          8  question, and you have to give me a whole lot of

          9  answers, most from the deinstitutionalization, the

         10  money following the clients and the patients coming

         11  here and then what infrastructure we are willing to

         12  build?

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Okay. Well, with

         14  regard to some of the numbers, there is

         15  approximately 3,500 New York New York housing beds

         16  that were created after the -- in the 1990s, and as

         17  you know, that program came to an end and there is

         18  no new New York New York development.

         19                 I mentioned earlier that in last

         20  year's budget there were about 80 units of supported

         21  single room occupancy housing that was put in the

         22  state budget and 350 supportive housing units in the

         23  pipeline.

         24                 At the same time, we in the City have

         25  also, recognizing that housing is such a critical
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          2  need for any of us in this room, so that the

          3  commonality of people's needs is greater than the

          4  differences.

          5                 So, it is not surprising that our

          6  consumers are talking about housing and employment,

          7  we all need that.

          8                 Over the past couple of years in

          9  reinvestment, we have, recognizing that and

         10  recognizing that there were housing shortages, we

         11  have supported approximately 700 housing units to

         12  create supported housing for this population.

         13                 Currently the Mayor has allocated

         14  about $80 million for housing for a variety of

         15  special needs populations, not exclusively for the

         16  seriously and persistently mentally ill, but for

         17  other populations as well, including HIV/AIDS and

         18  others, and this is, you know, this has been

         19  appropriated and, as you know, we have not been able

         20  to receive the level of support from the State in an

         21  allocation that would be concomitant to the formula

         22  that had allowed the City/State agreement to go

         23  forward in New York New York 1.

         24                 So, you know, we very much welcome

         25  the Council's support and your advocacy with your
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          2  colleagues at the state level, the State

          3  Legislature, to recognize that this housing need is

          4  critical and it impacts on all New Yorkers, not only

          5  the individuals whom we will serve.

          6                 There are a couple of a thousand

          7  additional units that are proposed to be supported

          8  by the dollars that the City has currently allocated

          9  for New York New York housing, and we will continue

         10  in our own reinvestment planning to see what we can

         11  do to create more supported housing through

         12  reinvestment dollars.

         13                 So, we are trying to put a lot of

         14  different pieces together, different funding

         15  streams, in order to recognize that this program has

         16  to be supported, there is impact throughout the City

         17  by the lack of support that we are currently not

         18  receiving, the lack of support that we are receiving

         19  from the State, I think that was a double negative,

         20  and the recognition that our shelter system is

         21  impacted by the fact that we don't have this

         22  commitment from the State to create housing units,

         23  and if you track the shelter system capacity over

         24  the last couple of years, it has gone up and we have

         25  concerns that the State's failure to support this
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          2  model program at this time is going to continue to

          3  have an adverse impact.

          4                 And we, recognizing that many of the

          5  people who would have been served maybe in our

          6  shelters, we will put reinvestment dollars into

          7  shelter programs, and we have done that in this past

          8  reinvestment year as well.

          9                 So, we continue to do everything that

         10  we can, but we certainly welcome your support to

         11  create the kinds of support services that are not in

         12  our reach, and we welcome your advocacy at the state

         13  level for this.

         14                 I am very pleased that the City, that

         15  the Administration, the Mayor and the Council has

         16  jointly recognized that this is an important need

         17  and that we need to work together to get the state

         18  to support us on this.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I am going to

         20  just ask my colleague, Council Member Reed, if he

         21  has some questions for you now.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I do, Madame

         23  Chair, and I appreciate the opportunity.

         24                 Dr. Cohen, your schedule and mine

         25  seem to always -- I am never here when you start
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          2  your dialogue or your testimony, so I apologize. I

          3  had two district service cabinet meetings to try to

          4  attend this morning. So, once again, I seem to

          5  always be apologizing in this room to you for not

          6  being here to hear your testimony and I will look

          7  forward to reading it. And I guess I appreciate my

          8  colleague's sense that I can read this and talk to

          9  you at the same time, but I am going to have to put

         10  this aside for just a moment, it is something about

         11  something in my neighborhood.

         12                 In trying to catch up to where you

         13  are at in terms of this discussion today, a couple

         14  of things: First of all, I do agree with my

         15  colleague that working with us at the local level on

         16  a lot of these different programs I think can

         17  prevent any problems that we may have in the future

         18  of trying to implement these in the districts. There

         19  is no question that certainly in communities similar

         20  to the ones that I serve, that we find a lot of

         21  individuals within the community that are not being

         22  -- don't have access to service or have not been

         23  quite identified, there are problems with the police

         24  and ongoing situations that we may be able to get

         25  the community to appreciate that there are things we
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          2  are trying to do for them but that requires that we

          3  do housing, that we do put community-based programs

          4  in place or enhance them.

          5                 But in listening to what you were

          6  talking about, there is a couple of terms that I

          7  would like to just get some definition from you

          8  about what we are talking about.

          9                 One, you talked about forensics. Can

         10  you define that for me? I have heard this now in

         11  three or four settings and they all seem to be broad

         12  in terms of, I think we are talking partly about the

         13  criminal justice system, am I correct?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, could you

         16  just --

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The forensic

         18  program we described refers to targeting individuals

         19  who were ending up in our City in jails and what we

         20  had started to do since 1996 was to develop linkage

         21  models that would coordinate their connection to

         22  appropriate community-based services, work on

         23  getting them the necessary entitlements.

         24                 One of the problems, there is an

         25  entitlement issue of the delay in getting Medicaid
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          2  on people's release from an institution and we have

          3  worked out through this program a way to get people

          4  their medication, even prior to the actual receipt

          5  of their Medicaid entitlement in anticipation that

          6  they would be able to receive that in the future,

          7  and we have expanded on that model.

          8                 The other direction that we are

          9  beginning to move in is through the front door and

         10  not just the back door, and the front door is an

         11  alternative to incarceration for individuals whose

         12  crimes are non-violent and appear to be an outcome

         13  of their mental illness and untreated mental

         14  illness, and we are going to put forward a model in

         15  the Brooklyn arraignment court that will allow us to

         16  identify people who would fall into that category,

         17  and provide them with the kinds of services they

         18  need and avoid the criminal justice system.

         19                 Actually, we know it takes six times

         20  longer for someone with a mental illness to have

         21  their case adjudicated in the criminal justice

         22  system than it takes somebody who doesn't have a

         23  mental illness. So, you know, they could be sitting

         24  and waiting for their evaluations to be carried out

         25  and to be reported and at the end of that process
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          2  the crime that they had been charged with doesn't

          3  even -- the term for that crime wouldn't even

          4  correspond to the amount of time required to do this

          5  evaluation.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I think that

          7  raises -- you had mentioned, you were talking about

          8  quality of life crimes, which I think you were

          9  beginning to talk about; can you just define that

         10  for me?

         11                 You have said several times that they

         12  have committed quality of life crimes.

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: There are

         14  different ways of defining that. I think our

         15  interest is in identifying individuals whose

         16  anti-social behavior is not premeditated, that is

         17  frequently impulsive in nature, and derives from an

         18  individual whose current mental illness is clouding

         19  their judgment and with the expectation that in

         20  treatment and in receiving proper medication and

         21  support services they would not be anti-social and

         22  they would not be likely to commit those crimes. And

         23  the best service that we can provide to the

         24  community would be to have a longer term way of

         25  addressing the issue by making a connection between

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            49

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  that individual and the kinds of treatment and

          3  support services they need.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, can you tell

          5  me, you also alluded to training at the local

          6  precinct level, for officers to be able to identify

          7  perhaps these kind of quality of life, I presume you

          8  mean somebody who impulsively breaks the window, a

          9  windshield, or things similar to that? You are not

         10  talking about somebody who just decides to beat

         11  somebody up on the street, but you are talking about

         12  property damage and things like that, incidents like

         13  that; is that what we are talking about?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We are talking

         15  about assisting the Police Department and training

         16  officers to understand ways to approach individuals

         17  with mental illness.

         18                 We started this program a number of

         19  years ago when the Elinor Bumpers case occurred in

         20  New York City, and recognizing there is always

         21  turn-over in any agency, certainly in the Police

         22  Department, there was a need to make sure that the

         23  Police Department, as it currently is comprised, has

         24  access to that training model.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, do we have
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          2  that training model in place now?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, we do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That is

          5  happening.

          6                 In the academy, or in terms of in the

          7  precinct, or ongoing training?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MONSERRATE:

          9  The police --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Would you get to

         11  the mic and identify yourself and just let us know

         12  who you are?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MONSERRATE:

         14  My name is Isaac Monserrate, I am the Assistant

         15  Commissioner for Mental Health at Crisis

         16  Intervention Services.

         17                 The police curriculum is, the

         18  training for police is ongoing at this time at the

         19  Emergency Service Unit, and the --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: At who's

         21  emergency service unit?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MONSERRATE:

         23  The Police Emergency Services Unit is receiving

         24  specialized training.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: This is in the
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          2  Academy?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MONSERRATE: As

          4  part of their process, yes.

          5                 Some of the training occurs at the

          6  Academy and some of the training occurs at Floyd

          7  Bennett Field.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But this is for

          9  the people who are entering into the Police

         10  Department, or this is ongoing training?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MONSERRATE:

         12  The recruits receive 16 hours of mental health

         13  training at the Academy and refresh courses. There

         14  is emergency service special psychology tech course

         15  going on now that the Department has funded since

         16  1986, and collaborated and developed a curriculum.

         17  And that program has been refunded and that is going

         18  on now.

         19                 That course is for ESU, hostage

         20  negotiators, the police Homeless Outreach Team, and

         21  the bomb squad.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I guess what I

         23  am trying to understand in this, and I am trying not

         24  to go too far afield, Madame Chair, but in terms of

         25  the regular cop on the beat, is who I am looking at,
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          2  what kind of training would we expect in our

          3  communities that they have and are being able to

          4  identify people with mental illnesses?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MONSERRATE:

          6  Well, besides the refresh course of the Academy,

          7  there are trainings at the local precinct level that

          8  is done by the training officers that have taken the

          9  ESU training program. Also, our mobile crisis teams

         10  provide training, brief training at the local

         11  precincts in relation to the population they deal

         12  with, so the linkage at that end with mobile crisis

         13  doing brief training at the local precinct level.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         15                 And the last question: Commissioner,

         16  you were talking about the SNPs, now prior to this

         17  job, my last two jobs before this, I worked at

         18  Hetrick Martin Institute, we heard about SNPs. Then

         19  I worked, to make a long story short, within the

         20  AIDS institutes programs, and we heard about SNPs; I

         21  haven't seen a SNP yet, and I have seen them defined

         22  17 different ways, and we are waiting on a SNP.

         23                 Could you tell me what you mean by

         24  that and how that will impact what you are saying in

         25  here right now? Because every time I heard that word
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          2  or that acronym, I get 47 pictures here in my mind.

          3  I am serious. I can't -- I know it stands for

          4  Special needs populations, what are we supposedly

          5  going to do with this thing, as you have been

          6  discussing it at today's hearing?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The Special Needs

          8  Plan --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Plan, okay.

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: -- To serve a

         11  special needs population --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That's a SNP

         13  SNP.

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay.

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: And there are two

         17  special needs populations that have been legislated

         18  for to be served by SNPs and one is HIV/AIDS

         19  population, the other is seriously and persistently

         20  mentally ill, and I have been addressing the

         21  seriously persistently mentally ill, and we --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And those are

         23  two separate SNP programs?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, two

         25  separate.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            54

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: And the

          4  Department of Mental Health assumes responsibility

          5  for the development of the program to serve the

          6  seriously mentally ill. The other is being addressed

          7  by the Department of Health.

          8                 Now, what I had said earlier is that

          9  this network that gets created at this point in time

         10  it is anticipated that there will be three SNPs in

         11  New York City, there is also a concern whether there

         12  would be sufficient coverage with three, maybe there

         13  would be four, but a Special Needs Plan is a network

         14  of service providers that recognizes that there is a

         15  continuum of service needs, and you have then in a

         16  SNP plan hospital-based providers, as well as

         17  outpatient community-based providers,

         18  community-based organizations, you have the

         19  intensive day treatment services that would be

         20  needed as a step down for people who are leaving

         21  inpatient care, so you have day treatment, as well

         22  as the emergency and crisis services that might be

         23  needed, but then there is also obviously an

         24  increased demand and recognition that community

         25  support programs that fall outside the traditional
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          2  Medicaid reimbursable models are very important to

          3  support people with seriously and persistently

          4  mental illness, such as the club houses, the

          5  Fountain House is an example.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So this first

          7  one that you talked to, this Special Needs Plan

          8  where you have got this continuum of the hospital

          9  and the community-based outpatient day treatment,

         10  all of this you see being reimbursable, services

         11  that are reimbursable through Medicaid?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, the model

         13  moves away from a fee for service reimbursement plan

         14  into a capitated reimbursement model, which then

         15  puts an economic incentive on the part of the SNP to

         16  keep the individual well, and keep them out of the

         17  hospital, and because hospitals are expensive, and

         18  they eat into the capitation, so that if a SNP, a

         19  consortium of providers, is going to be able to have

         20  adequate resources to provide their services, they

         21  have to join together very proactively to make sure

         22  that individuals are being, the needs of individuals

         23  are addressed in the community.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So you are

         25  trying to force that collaboration through this

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            56

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  program?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Exactly.

          4                 You know, our hope was that the SNP

          5  model would create the collaboration, the

          6  communication and the necessary planning across

          7  these different provider systems, which we think is

          8  a very important and necessary thing to accomplish.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Now, as usual I

         11  have the team of support here with me that usually

         12  identifies themselves and then asks some questions

         13  of you, Commissioner.

         14                 MR. STEIN: Good morning,

         15  Commissioner. I am Perry Stein, Policy Analyst to

         16  this Subcommittee.

         17                 Going to the Goldstein case, I would

         18  like to know, from published reports it is clear

         19  that this gentleman was in the State system, and he

         20  was in HHC facilities and in I believe Hillside

         21  Medical Center; at any point was he in an outpatient

         22  program that received sufficient DMH funding?

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I am really not

         24  able, under advice of counsel, to respond

         25  specifically to this Goldstein because for a variety
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          2  of reasons, number one, it continues to be under

          3  investigation by both the State, the State Office of

          4  Mental Health and the City Department of Mental

          5  Health, so most of what I know is what I read in the

          6  newspapers and I think that in many ways this

          7  individual, from what I read, not from information

          8  from medical information I have, obviously was very

          9  isolated, you know, was living in housing that

         10  wasn't, didn't have support structure associated

         11  with it and I can't speak to his particular needs

         12  because, again, I don't have that medical history

         13  available to me and it is not something I can share

         14  with you.

         15                 But individuals like that certainly

         16  who drift in and drift out of treatment services we

         17  believe strongly in the treatment model that would

         18  be developed through a SNP there would be a clear

         19  cut investment on the part of the provider system to

         20  make sure that individuals like that wouldn't fall

         21  out of the system. And regardless of whether there

         22  will be a SNP, because you know that is something

         23  that is on the drawing board, it may be coming soon

         24  and it may not be coming soon, we have to in our

         25  reinvestment planning make sure that we are putting

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            58

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  in place in our City services that can provide the

          3  necessary safety net to make sure that individuals

          4  with these needs are going to be able to both access

          5  relevant treatment services by having providers who

          6  can specialize in the linkage functions and the

          7  coordination functions.

          8                 So, we are going to look very

          9  carefully at our case management system, the

         10  intensive and supportive case management programs,

         11  we are going to be hearing from the community, since

         12  we have public hearings in late March and early

         13  April on our next year's reinvestment plan, and we

         14  are going to be looking at what are the services

         15  that are actually going to be able to reach out into

         16  communities, with or without a SNP, to make sure

         17  that people don't fall outside the system who need

         18  to be, you know, in ongoing treatment.

         19                 MR. STEIN: We heard about

         20  coordination of care within the City systems, but it

         21  seems to me, not going to the specifics of the case,

         22  that that case is an exemplar coordination of care

         23  vis-a-vis not just one system but all the systems.

         24  So the issue then is, can we work in a way where

         25  there is coordination of care, not just within the
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          2  City systems, but also within the state and the city

          3  system and with the private system?

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, that would

          5  be our intention. We recognize that that is

          6  necessary, that our patients come from all sectors

          7  and whether it is the forensic system and we have

          8  put in placed the LINK programs there, the Bridger

          9  model, which I discussed earlier, which is a direct

         10  link between the State Psychiatric Center treatment

         11  services, and the community-based models, and the

         12  voluntary system where we would have the ALERTS

         13  program in northern Manhattan, to link, recognizing

         14  that patients don't necessarily identify themselves

         15  as HHC or voluntary system patients, they move from

         16  one facility to another for a variety of reasons. It

         17  is a priority for this agency to link program

         18  services across agencies and across systems and

         19  across sectors. So, that is something that going

         20  forward will continue, and necessarily now even

         21  become a greater priority than it has before.

         22                 We have spent the first several years

         23  of the reinvestment program in making sure that

         24  there are treatment services in the community that

         25  have been absent in the last couple of decades, that
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          2  the downsizing of the State Psychiatric Centers

          3  brought about an upsurge of many homeless mentally

          4  ill individuals in the eighties and late 1980s, and

          5  we recognize that we had to have more treatment

          6  services available. We have been fairly successful

          7  about that, but now I think the coordination is

          8  raised to a higher level of priority. The surges may

          9  be there, but the links and the coordination is

         10  something that we have to make sure is highly

         11  effective and that will be a priority.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Commissioner,

         13  when I asked about use of technology, it touches to

         14  the heart of what I was trying to address with you,

         15  and that is to make sure that we build a system that

         16  accounts for every individual identified and is

         17  treated by any of these systems and that there is a

         18  way to really identify and to make sure that they

         19  remain in treatment or that they are functioning so

         20  that whether more treatment, less treatment, but

         21  that we know what happens to that individual, it is

         22  my thinking that had there been a system in place,

         23  we would have been able to identify this young man

         24  and that somebody would have engaged him and we

         25  probably would have prevented this. We may not but
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          2  just the same, if there was a system, we would have

          3  been able to say we knew, we accounted for, and this

          4  is as terrible an accident or as terrible or

          5  whatever it is that that is what the outcome was and

          6  is.

          7                 My counsel has a word to say or to

          8  identify himself.

          9                 MR. SMITH: I am Carl Smith, I am

         10  Legal Counsel to this Subcommittee.

         11                 Commissioner, you gave very

         12  comprehensive testimony as far as the programs that

         13  DMH administers, however, and I know you can't on

         14  advice of counsel give comment on the Goldstein

         15  case, but do you have word of any other individuals,

         16  or how systemic is the problem, as far as

         17  individuals who are out there who are at risk, in

         18  danger and need services? Can you speak to that

         19  issue?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I believe I can.

         21                 I think it is very important to

         22  underscore that this case is very much the

         23  exception, the exceptional case, and we all know

         24  that the newspapers, the media, the tabloids, tend

         25  to very much sensationalize these cases when they
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          2  occur. Fortunately they are very unusual and they,

          3  when the media does portray the mentally ill in the

          4  context of violent acts in crimes, and I recognize

          5  that it is necessary to have media coverage, it

          6  means that the public links and associates mental

          7  illness with dangerousness, and fortunately, that is

          8  not truly the case. And we going forward would like

          9  to be able to get the word out to the public, and we

         10  have an anti-stigma campaign that we are going to be

         11  launching in the next couple of months that I think

         12  promises to do that.

         13                 The dangerousness or the risk of

         14  violence for people with mental illness is very,

         15  very mild, and as you may have heard, people with

         16  mental illness are much more at risk of being

         17  victimized than are being victimizers, and generally

         18  when these cases occur, in almost all instances the

         19  mentally ill individual is not currently receiving

         20  appropriate treatment. And when treatment services

         21  are offered to a seriously mentally ill individual,

         22  their risk is at that point no greater than any

         23  other citizen's.

         24                 So, naturally the lesson we learn

         25  from this is that it is important for us to take a
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          2  very proactive and assertive approach in developing

          3  a community mental health system to make sure that

          4  people with serious mental illness are able to

          5  access services that are relevant to the lives that

          6  they lead in the community. And this would be beyond

          7  just having appointments to go to a clinic and get

          8  medications on a monthly basis, this would involve

          9  other kinds of support services and case management

         10  and opportunities at rehabilitation and developing

         11  skills that could lead in fact even to gainful

         12  employment.

         13                 So, there is a whole host of support

         14  services that we think should go along with

         15  treatment.

         16                 So, again, coming back to your

         17  question, I think that, you know, this is an

         18  exception, and it is unfortunate that the public

         19  often gains the impression that mental illness is

         20  equated with dangerousness and it is not, and the

         21  Mayor said it very well in the immediate aftermath

         22  of this Goldstein incident, when he was asked at

         23  City Hall, I happened to be there, by a reporter,

         24  and he said that at any time and in any society

         25  individuals will on occasion commit violent acts to
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          2  other individuals, and that is true of people who

          3  without mental illness, as well as the mentally ill.

          4                 And nevertheless, the kinds of, the

          5  recognition that needs to be given to the mental

          6  health system over the course of time sometimes is

          7  unfortunately not prioritized and it has taken

          8  incidents like this to draw the public's attention

          9  to the need to put services on line that are able to

         10  improve the quality of life of individuals with

         11  mental illness, and you know, we look to working

         12  with the Council and with our providers in making

         13  sure that program services have the necessary

         14  linkage and connection and are committed to reaching

         15  out to people in the community to minimize the risk

         16  that events like this will happen in our City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And having said

         18  that, the gentleman who crunches the numbers for me

         19  as we move to the budget will have some questions in

         20  terms of your own commitment to what you have just

         21  finally said, and we will take our message seriously

         22  on this side of the hall, Yohance.

         23                 MR. MAQUBELA: Yohance Maqubela,

         24  Financial Analyst for the Subcommittee.

         25                 Just a couple of questions. With or
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          2  without a second New York New York Agreement the

          3  City is still going to have to deal with the problem

          4  of inadequate housing and treatment for the homeless

          5  and mentally ill. What is the current projection for

          6  the need that this New York New York II Agreement

          7  would service?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER delCAMPO:

          9  Originally we had hoped to be able to obtain 2000

         10  beds for the New York New York Agreement. Currently

         11  I know the negotiations between the City and the

         12  City, that number is down to 1,500, which is why the

         13  Department, through reinvestment planning, has,

         14  especially, for example, in year four when there was

         15  no homeless MICA portion of reinvestment dollars at

         16  all, committed a significant portion of its regular

         17  reinvestment dollars to the development of supported

         18  housing, to address a number of categories of

         19  clients who are at risk, not only the forensic

         20  population that has been alluded to but to the

         21  geriatric population, to the aging out adolescent

         22  population that is coming out of some of our

         23  residential treatment centers and some of whom are

         24  coming also out of juvenile detention centers, and

         25  who require mental health support services,
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          2  specifically targeted for that.

          3                 We have participated as full partners

          4  with the state in the identification of the programs

          5  that will provide the 350 supported housing beds and

          6  the SOMH's RFP initiative that was issued this past

          7  fall, and the supported single room occupancy

          8  program and also have worked as equal partners with

          9  the State in the identification of program

         10  priorities, not only housing programs, but also

         11  service programs that are linked to housing programs

         12  in year five reinvestment which, as you know, there

         13  was a large allocation of homeless MICA dollars to

         14  the City, $12.8 million.

         15                 Fifty-seven programs were identified

         16  by the City and the State's regional office for

         17  funding, identifying the priorities of the City in

         18  the housing area. 15 to date have been approved.

         19  And we do not have the full plan as yet, but 15 to

         20  date have been approved and we touched base with a

         21  number of our sister agencies, such as the

         22  Department of Homeless Services, to get their input

         23  in what they felt that they needed in the plan,

         24  there is a significant allocation that goes to that

         25  sister agency with regard to their providing
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          2  services within the shelter system for the homeless

          3  mentally ill.

          4                 So, we feel we are making a

          5  comprehensive effort to address the housing need as

          6  best we can for the funding streams available.

          7                 MR. MAQUBELA: As you mentioned in the

          8  year five reinvestment there was the homeless MICA

          9  carve-out, however, in the Governor's proposal for

         10  this year there is not. If that remains to be the

         11  case in the adopted budget, should we expect to be

         12  presented with a new need in the executive budget,

         13  the City Executive Budget?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I think it is a

         15  little premature for us right now to say what our

         16  new needs may be in the Executive Budget because we

         17  do have these contingencies, both of our own

         18  reinvestment planning, as well as what will be the

         19  adopted state budget, you know, and hopefully we

         20  will be able to do our calculations. The methodology

         21  for estimating the need for beds is not very

         22  clearcut at the moment. I mean, there is a clear

         23  sense that there is a significant need and the

         24  numbers that we are talking about go a long way to

         25  having an impact, but there hasn't been any recent
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          2  approach by the State Office of Mental Health to

          3  offer up a target number of people out there who

          4  need these residential services, so we are going to

          5  continue to do our best estimation of that need and

          6  do everything we can in the City to pull our

          7  resources together to contribute to that

          8  development.

          9                 MR. MAQUBELA: One final question.

         10                 Outside of the random incidents where

         11  you have situations like this that we have this

         12  hearing on today, there is still the problem where

         13  too many mentally ill persons are wrongfully being

         14  directed to the area of the criminal justice system,

         15  and as part of this I guess that is why we had the

         16  inception of the LINK program as well as the

         17  juvenile LINK program, and in a couple of hearings

         18  back we focused on this a lot. This is a program

         19  that we followed that we like. However, we notice

         20  that there is a large need, more than what is being

         21  served, when we look at the numbers of people coming

         22  out of, not only Rikers Island and City correctional

         23  institutions but also from the State; so are there

         24  any plans to expand this program?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER delCAMPO: We are
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          2  looking to expand services. Just as in earlier years

          3  of reinvestment we were looking especially to expand

          4  employment programs, for example, housing

          5  initiatives. Not that those areas are going to be

          6  abandoned or don't continue to be areas of priority

          7  and need, but we are looking more and more to expand

          8  it to the forensic services.

          9                 We have expanded LINK through

         10  reinvestment dollars to cover other boroughs. For

         11  example, Brooklyn, the reinvestment has, in

         12  reinvestment year five, a LINK program specifically

         13  targeted for Brooklyn, through additional Council

         14  allocation.  We are looking for a Bronx LINK program

         15  that is also going to be funded which will -- and we

         16  will be looking in year six reinvestment for a LINK

         17  program for the Borough of Queens. This would

         18  provide support, LINK-type support programs, in all

         19  of the boroughs. We will also be looking in clinic

         20  enhancement programs for the forensic population as

         21  well.

         22                 As I alluded to earlier, I believe

         23  there currently exists, I think I may have said

         24  three in two boroughs to date, and we may be looking

         25  to do expansion in other boroughs as well. And by
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          2  this I mean that we would be enhancing the

          3  professional staff of clinic programs with staff

          4  that are trained and have experience in working with

          5  the unique needs of the forensic mentally ill

          6  population.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Commissioner, let

          8  me thank you for coming this morning and for

          9  answering the questions.

         10                 Let me also identify another member

         11  of my staff, Richard Alene, who has been liaison to

         12  the Task Force and my Chief of Staff has arrived, to

         13  at least get a sense of what I do here so she can

         14  tell everybody in the district that I truly work and

         15  do work when I am in the City.

         16                 Let me thank you for coming and for

         17  all of your expression of the need and how we need

         18  to work together to make sure that the mental health

         19  system responds to the needs of all of the clients

         20  out there and that we do a job that is more seamless

         21  in terms of all of the systems that are out there. I

         22  want to pledge to you all of my commitment and that

         23  of the City Council in making sure that we work

         24  together both with the provider community, as well

         25  as those who receive the services to make sure that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            71

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  we make a difference for those who are mentally ill

          3  in the City of New York.

          4                 As you probably hear and know,

          5  following today's hearing I will be putting together

          6  a task force of persons who cover the entire gamut

          7  of mental health services, which is to assist the

          8  City Council in staying in tune and on track of the

          9  mainstream of what is happening in mental health so

         10  that our contribution can be a full contribution in

         11  making sure that the service is both highlighted,

         12  respected, given the resources, compete with all

         13  other resources in the City of New York, because it

         14  is a need that must be met like any other need in

         15  the City of New York, and I want to make sure that I

         16  fulfill my own responsibility and obligation as a

         17  member of the Council, but beyond that as a person

         18  who feels and have both empathy, as well as the

         19  courage to stand up for those who cannot speak for

         20  themselves.

         21                 So, again, let me thank you for

         22  coming. There are a number of witnesses that signed

         23  up, we will hear them, because what we are doing is

         24  not clandestine, Commissioner, if you have a staff

         25  person who you wish to remain in that conversation
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          2  that we will have following the hearing, I will be

          3  very pleased to have them because I intend to work

          4  both sides of the hall to accomplish my mission, and

          5  that is if it has got to be the Mayor, you know I am

          6  an interface politician and if it is Speaker Vallone

          7  I will be in his face too, because I need to get my

          8  work done and I can get it done with the help and

          9  support of both of the advocates, the providers and

         10  yourselves, because I think we together can provide

         11  the kind of partnership that will lead to a kind of

         12  service that is respected in the City of New York.

         13                 And, so, I thank you for coming and

         14  hope that I didn't terrorize you too much for

         15  showing up this morning.

         16                 Will you be leaving a staff member?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 The first witness will be Fred A.

         21  Levine, from Fountain House.

         22                 Mr. Levine.

         23                 MR. LEVINE: Good morning, Council

         24  Member Clarke, Council Member Reed, members of the

         25  staff. My name is Fred Levine, and I have been for
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          2  the last three years the counsel to the Executive

          3  Director of Fountain House. I have also been a

          4  member of the Bar Association's Mental Health

          5  Committee, as well as a member of the Board of

          6  Directors of the New York State National Alliance

          7  for the Mentally Ill, but probably most

          8  significantly, for the last two years I have been a

          9  Fountain House staff worker for many of the research

         10  subjects, the members of Fountain House who

         11  participated in the Bellevue Program, and I, myself,

         12  for the last 25 years have been living with manic

         13  depression. I know the illness personally. I have

         14  been one of the fortunate people, because for 25

         15  years I have had many of the components that Dr.

         16  Cohen alluded to as some of the necessary components

         17  in treating this illness.

         18                 At the outset I would like to

         19  apologize for Ken Dudak, who is the Executive

         20  Director of Fountain House who could not be here

         21  today, but who I know has been participating with

         22  you in many dialogues, and he hopes to do so in the

         23  future. Unfortunately, earlier this morning he was

         24  called away and he asked me to appear.

         25                 I want to thank you for giving me
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          2  this opportunity to appear today. It is public

          3  forums like this, public dialogues, where we can

          4  listen to each other and where we can exchange ideas

          5  with each other, answer a few questions, that can

          6  move us toward some better public policy and can

          7  move us toward that system of recovery that we all

          8  want for the mental health system.

          9                 No one wants a system anymore of

         10  warehousing people, we all want a system of

         11  rehabilitation. No one wants a system anymore where

         12  discharge planning talks about returning someone to

         13  baseline. We want to return people t the opportunity

         14  to be the best that they can be.

         15                 Now, there are very few strangers in

         16  this room, as I look around, everyone knows each

         17  other, Council Member Clarke, you in particular, you

         18  have been to Fountain House I don't know how many

         19  times, but you have walked very comfortably in the

         20  halls of Fountain House. You have never looked over

         21  your shoulder there. You have never done anything

         22  other than eat meals with us. And although this is

         23  rather emotional for me, you have treated us with

         24  incredible respect, and that is a testament to what

         25  you are trying to do here today, to find solutions
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          2  that will respect the needs of people, and we thank

          3  you for that.

          4                 Dr. Cohen as well. Dr. Cohen has made

          5  his life's work mental health. He knows the

          6  components. He knows that there are no quick fixes

          7  in this area. He knows that he has got to focus on

          8  the components that work.

          9                 I am obviously not going to summarize

         10  what he talked about in his presentation, but I will

         11  focus on, I think it was seven elements that he

         12  mentioned. What did he mention?

         13                 Number one, he mentioned safe and

         14  affordable housing. We all know that. I have worked

         15  with people who are homeless. The recovery process

         16  might start when you build that relationship with

         17  someone who has no home, but the true rehabilitation

         18  starts when you find that person a home.

         19                 He mentioned professional case

         20  management, and he mentioned case management, that

         21  gives people who are being treated the opportunity

         22  to participate in their treatment. Well, that

         23  presupposes some level of voluntariness, a voluntary

         24  relationship. It's a voluntary relationship,

         25  professional case management, safe and affordable

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            76

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  housing, and he mentioned discharge planning. We

          3  have been through that one before. We have seen the

          4  most recent tragedy involving Kevin Cerbelli, and we

          5  know that we have to do a better job with discharge

          6  planning.

          7                 You talked about professionalizing

          8  staff. Does it strike anyone as odd that staff in a

          9  mental health program earn less than they could earn

         10  as a cocktail waitress?

         11                 Does it strike anyone odd that staff

         12  in a mental health program who are called upon often

         13  for 18 hour days, because they wear beepers if there

         14  is an emergency, are often paid substantially less

         15  than an office assistant, than waiters?

         16                 Is this something that perhaps as we

         17  build the mental health system that we want that we

         18  should focus upon? Dr. Cohen focused upon it, I

         19  think he was correct to do so.

         20                 And lastly, he focused upon

         21  relationships, because after all is said and done,

         22  it is the relationship between the people inside

         23  Fountain House that makes it work, and it is what

         24  has made it work for 50 years.

         25                 But Dr. Cohen didn't mention,
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          2  unfortunately he didn't mention four things, and

          3  these are sort of particular pet projects of mine.

          4  And I know that he didn't mention them, not because

          5  he doesn't believe in them. I know he supports them

          6  actually, he just didn't have the time to mention

          7  them.

          8                 First is transportation. Now, it is

          9  all too easy when John or Mary don't show up at an

         10  appointment, it is all too easy to say, son of a gun

         11  they are not compliant. They are just bucking the

         12  system.

         13                 Well, the question we ask at Fountain

         14  House is, do they have car fare to get there? And

         15  the real question we ask, if they are SSI

         16  recipients, is why don't they have a half fare card?

         17  Why is it that the MTA does not provide a half fare

         18  card to SSI recipients with mental illness when they

         19  provide the same half fare card to SSD recipients?

         20  That is a question that needs to be answered.

         21                 Another point that he wasn't able to

         22  touch upon is employment. Again, we need to focus on

         23  the right and the ability of every person within

         24  Fountain House and every program in New York City to

         25  work, either through transitional employment,
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          2  supported employment or independent employment,

          3  whatever model is out there. We need to focus on

          4  work.

          5                 We need to focus on educational

          6  supports and lastly, and this really is something

          7  which it's just a major question of mine, we need to

          8  talk about the second class citizen nature of

          9  Medicaid.

         10                 Council Member Clarke walked the

         11  halls of Fountain House and so she knows exactly

         12  what I am talking about. If you see someone who is

         13  in their late forties or early fifties at Fountain

         14  House, and they are so happy to see Council Member

         15  Clarke come into our halls, and they smile, you will

         16  see that they have no teeth, because Medicaid

         17  doesn't pay for advanced types of dental work, like

         18  root canal.

         19                 What does Medicaid pay for?

         20  Extractions. So, the type of dental care that the

         21  members of Fountain House receive who are on

         22  Medicaid is similar to the dental care of the 1700s,

         23  the only difference is, our members do not get

         24  wooden teeth. But their teeth are pulled out.

         25                 We need to ask that question, why is
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          2  it that Medicaid treats people like second class

          3  citizens. When I was having problems with certain

          4  reactions to Medication, I had a general

          5  practitioner, did blood tests, I had a psychiatrist,

          6  talked to the doctor, they had this integrated care

          7  that Dr. Cohen is talking about. Do you really think

          8  that exists in the Medicaid system?

          9                 No. What happens is a 25-year-old

         10  woman is given Zyprexa, which is a drug that works

         11  wonders for many people. And that 25-year-old woman,

         12  perhaps, experiences a 30 pound weight gain within

         13  the first 30 days and then she considers going off

         14  her drug, but she doesn't have, if she is a Medicaid

         15  recipient, the advantage of doctors coordinating

         16  care and talking about how she might manage the side

         17  effects.

         18                 I have been very fortunate. I have

         19  had doctors who have helped me manage these side

         20  effects.

         21                 If this is off the topic or if this

         22  is outside the scope of your inquiry, please tell

         23  me. But lastly, the anti-stigma campaign that Dr.

         24  Cohen mentioned is very, very much welcomed. We are

         25  looking forward to receiving some word of what the
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          2  parameters of that are going to be. I hope that it

          3  will be a program that expands into the high

          4  schools, because as you know, in the high school age

          5  bracket, 15 and up, it is that these illnesses first

          6  manifest themselves, so we need to do a better

          7  educational job there.

          8                 Now, my remarks would be incomplete

          9  if I didn't say something about the Bellevue

         10  Program. I have known Dr. Telsa, and I respect his

         11  work. I have known him for over two years. As a

         12  member of the Bar Association I invited him to speak

         13  before this Committee, so before he became a media

         14  star, I have known him.

         15                 And I would just say that, I would

         16  just say that my reading of the study, the PRA

         17  research study, and these remarks are my own, they

         18  do not represent those of any of the organizations

         19  for whom I work, basically the PRA research study

         20  report showed that forced intervention -- and I will

         21  use the term forced intervention, because there is

         22  no such thing as forced treatment -- forced

         23  intervention specifically did not make any

         24  statistical difference.

         25                 There was no statistical difference
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          2  between the experimental group, which received the

          3  intervention, and the control group that didn't.

          4                 The court order was ambiguous, it was

          5  poorly understood, it was embarrassing, it was like

          6  the Miranda warnings had become today, a slurred,

          7  misunderstood part of the process. It had no

          8  discernible value therapeutically.

          9                 For that reason I would suggest that

         10  I would focus on the positive element that Dr. Cohen

         11  outlined, and although we look forward to the

         12  legislation that he referenced today, we hope that

         13  court ordered treatment, forced intervention, will

         14  not be a part of it.

         15                 So, again, thank you for inviting me

         16  today. It is dialogues like this that I think move

         17  the public policy forward.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 Let me do something that is unusual

         22  of me. I have a number of witnesses that have signed

         23  up. I think that these witnesses are also persons

         24  who were invited to be on the task force. This room

         25  is going to be used again at 1:00 for the Committee

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            82

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  on the Aging, and I don't know whether in the

          3  discussion, in the formation of the task force,

          4  whether your points will be made there or not. I do

          5  not want to curb any of the public dialogue that

          6  needs to take place, but I just want you to bear in

          7  mind when you come to testify, that we will have

          8  some opportunity within the next hour to discuss

          9  some of the issues that we need to come to terms

         10  with as a task force if we are to move the mental

         11  health community forward.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 MR. LEVINE: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Having said that,

         15  the next person signed to speak is Loretta M.

         16  Cerbelli.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Madame Chair,

         18  while the witnesses are taking their seats, I just

         19  want to comment on their remark about the

         20  transportation, that that is a very good issue, but

         21  I think it is a larger issue, because in fact as I

         22  understand it, just having SSD doesn't even get you

         23  the MTA discount card. You have to be a quadriplegic

         24  paraplegic, it is really restricted, so it is

         25  something that we might want to look at in a larger
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          2  context.

          3                 When I was on disability myself, I

          4  was rendered unable, because I was able enough to

          5  walk down a flight of stairs, it didn't mean I had

          6  any money, but so just throwing that out, it is not

          7  because you just get it if you have SSD, we need to

          8  look, it's a very good question about people

          9  accessing services.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, thank you,

         11  my colleague.

         12                 MS. CERBELLI: Good morning. And thank

         13  you, Council Member Una

         14  Clarke for providing me with the opportunity to

         15  testify.

         16                 My name is Loretta M. Cerbelli, and I

         17  am the mother of Kevin Cerbelli, who was killed at

         18  the 110th Precinct on October 25th.

         19                 I am here on a no payday, not

         20  representing the agency I work for, but here with

         21  the Kevin Cerbelli Coalition.

         22                 Kevin would become seriously ill when

         23  not prescribed effective medication. Under the

         24  proposed law, my son would have been

         25  institutionalized against his will because of the
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          2  inadequate services I feel he was provided with at

          3  Elmhurst Hospital Mental Outpatient Clinic.

          4                 Kevin would have had his dignity and

          5  rights taken away from him again through no fault of

          6  his own. It was not Kevin's fault that his new

          7  medication was not helping him. It was not his fault

          8  either that neither his doctors nor social workers

          9  would listen to our pleading for help for him.

         10                 It was not Kevin's fault that he was

         11  hospitalized four times because his new medication

         12  was not helping him.

         13                 Under the proposed law Kevin would

         14  have been placed in a horrible nightmarish confines

         15  of an institution unjustly because of inapt

         16  medication, misjudgment, the inability and the

         17  refusal of clinical staff to acknowledge the fact

         18  that there was a serious problem with Kevin's new

         19  medication.

         20                 Many of us fall into the same

         21  category, and if this is allowed to pass and allowed

         22  to dominate the mental health field, consumers and

         23  their families will live in fear of it, and the

         24  consequences related along with it.

         25                 This law would not be the solution to
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          2  address the numerous problems that exist within the

          3  mental health system for the non-agency affiliated

          4  consumer, outpatients of mental health clinics, and

          5  other consumers.

          6                 This medieval mental health system

          7  that exists today failed Kevin, as it is also

          8  failing so many others in similar situations as my

          9  son.

         10                 Why change medications when people

         11  are stabilized and living normal lives and are

         12  happy? These unnecessary medication changes are

         13  jeopardizing the future security and wellbeing of

         14  these consumers and will consequently place them in

         15  jeopardy of being unjustly institutionalized under

         16  this law.

         17                 Continuous hospitalizations should

         18  have sent up a red flag warning that there was a

         19  problem with Kevin's new medication. This is an

         20  ongoing problem with many other consumers. How can

         21  anyone possibly consider the punishment of

         22  institutionalism because of the lack of concern and

         23  course of treatment these consumers are subjected

         24  to?

         25                 Does this justify institutionalism? I
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          2  do not think so.

          3                 Intensive case managers and

          4  supportive housing are the legitimate answers to

          5  this dilemma existing today. Why is punishment even

          6  an issue? Ineffectiveness, the lack of concern, the

          7  rejection of ideal solutions and ignorance are the

          8  true sources of these present day issues.

          9                 Kevin was killed four months ago

         10  tomorrow. Had he received the services I and others

         11  are pleading for, my son would be alive today. Kevin

         12  suffered a great deal in life due to his disability,

         13  as are many others.

         14                 Kevin was in prison for 18 months of

         15  his life based upon his disability. Kevin's name has

         16  been cleared and the charge of reckless endangerment

         17  dropped against him by the Supreme Court due to his

         18  death and his pending appeal.

         19                 No one can call Kevin a criminal

         20  anymore, but how many others are suffering this very

         21  same problem because of the discriminatory practices

         22  and lack of understanding of the mentally ill.

         23                 Kevin was assumed guilty because of

         24  his disability and had to prove his innocence. Does

         25  anyone realize how many others are in similar
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          2  situations because of their mental disability with

          3  no one there to help them?

          4                 Are you aware of what they are

          5  subjected to when they are imprisoned? How they are

          6  denied their medication and can't see a doctor for

          7  weeks.

          8                 Are you aware of the serious

          9  breakdowns they have because of this?

         10                 And are you aware that their

         11  medication is taken away from them under the threats

         12  of other prisoners?

         13                 Are you also aware of how they are

         14  taunted by Correction officers and other prisoners?

         15                 Institutionalism is not a far cry

         16  from imprisonment. There is a very thin line of

         17  words separating the two. This law would just be

         18  another way of imprisoning the mentally disabled

         19  against their will and taking them out of the

         20  mainstream of life as we know it.

         21                 It would be a total travesty of

         22  justice for them. We are talking about human beings,

         23  people who have rights in life too.

         24                 I personally know the pain, the

         25  feelings of helplessness and hopelessness that other
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          2  families are experiencing where no one will hear

          3  your pleas of help for a loved one.

          4                 I am pleading for the future of this

          5  population. I understand and I know the suffering,

          6  and I do not want to see this happen to anyone.

          7                 An intensive case manager would open

          8  a new avenue of communication for these families and

          9  create a liaison to bridge the present gap of

         10  communication existing with the clinical staff.

         11  Family concerns would be addressed and taken

         12  seriously by clinical staff through the

         13  documentation of intense case managers reports when

         14  there is a medication problem, as is also in the

         15  case of supportive housing.

         16                 An intensive case manager would have

         17  a one-to-one contact with their consumers within

         18  their consumer's living environments. This would

         19  give them the advantage of enabling them to evaluate

         20  and document a consumer's situation firsthand.

         21                 They can better determine how

         22  effectively the consumer's medication is working, if

         23  they are stabilized or in need of medication change

         24  and also if the consumer is experiencing a crisis.

         25                 These consumers are seen in mental
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          2  health outpatient clinics infrequently and for short

          3  periods of time, as part of overly burdened doctors

          4  and social workers who have very heavy caseloads and

          5  are not giving the personal attention needed by this

          6  population because of these circumstances.

          7                 It is my impression that they are

          8  hardened to the obviousness of deterioration, the

          9  needs and the wellbeing of their consumers.

         10                 This system is already in place and

         11  working effectively for agency affiliated consumers.

         12  I cannot understand why the forgotten population in

         13  the mental health field are still not seemed

         14  important enough to receive these same services.

         15                 Institutionalism is a giant leap

         16  backwards in time and is in a poor and cruel excuse

         17  of being the solution to the prevalent problems of

         18  this field.

         19                 This proposed law was not sensibly

         20  thought through and is not problem solving, it is

         21  pathetic. The inhumanity of it, the deprivation of a

         22  consumer's rights, their dignity and their right to

         23  a normal life is undeniably an infringement of their

         24  civil rights to me. I interpret it as being a total

         25  violation of the freedom we have as granted to all
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          2  of us and written by the founders of our country in

          3  the constitution of the United States of America,

          4  and totally discriminating against this population.

          5                 The non-agency affiliated population

          6  is punished enough already through inadequate

          7  services and the lack of equal services.

          8                 Supportive housing and intensive case

          9  managers would be more effective and more cost

         10  efficient than this barbaric proposed law of

         11  institutionalism.

         12                 These consumers are in need of

         13  adequate services and effective medication, not more

         14  punishment. Would you want this for you or one of

         15  your loved ones? Mental illness can debilitate any

         16  one of us, it does not discriminate.

         17                 The system is failing this

         18  population. They are not failing the system, and

         19  they do not deserve to be punished further by

         20  allowing this proposed law to be passed or even

         21  seriously considered as a solution.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         24  much for your testimony.

         25                 Rosary Marinaro.
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          2                 MS. MARINARO: Hi. Thank you. My name

          3  is Rosary Marinaro, and I am a person who has been

          4  labeled mentally ill, and I have had many diagnoses

          5  - schizo-effective disorder, manic depressive,

          6  bipolar, and I am a treatment resister. I do not

          7  necessarily abide by what the psychiatrists want for

          8  me when I am in a situation like in a mental

          9  hospital. I have been locked up in state hospitals,

         10  I have been locked up in City hospitals, so I do

         11  have a history.

         12                 I am also an activist and organizer

         13  in mental patients liberation.

         14                 It is hard for me to speak right now

         15  because I don't know where to begin, and I know we

         16  want to be brief.

         17                 Thank you for the opportunity. I

         18  think I want to honor the name of Elinor Bumpers.

         19  She was a woman I want to honor her and look at her

         20  as a warrior woman. She did not -- she was not in

         21  the mental health system. She was a senior citizen

         22  who was being evicted from her home. She was being

         23  evicted. She stood in front of her home with a knife

         24  in her hand and said, no, I don't want to go, and we

         25  know what happened, she was murdered by the Police
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          2  Department.

          3                 And after that murder there was laws

          4  that were supposed to help so-called emotionally

          5  disturbed persons with the police, and the whole

          6  Taser system happened. What happened to Joseph Koto?

          7  He was an emotionally disturbed person. I want to

          8  underscore again, Elinor Bumpers had no history in

          9  the mental health system. Joseph Koto did. The cops

         10  came to his house and he was also murdered.

         11                 There is another person I want to

         12  talk about, I think his name was Earl Jones. His

         13  mother was also shot, she wasn't murdered, but he

         14  was murdered, okay? When mental patients get

         15  murdered, I still don't know what happened to those

         16  policemen. Were they chastised? Were their badges

         17  taken away? Did they go to jail? I don't know. I

         18  still don't know.

         19                 Let's talk about Ruben Harris,

         20  because he is a case that follows Kendra and

         21  Goldstein. Ruben Harris was actually in State system

         22  and the State would have us believe that he was an

         23  escapee. Ruben Harris was not an escapee. Ruben

         24  Harris had a past.

         25                 I have escaped from a locked ward. I
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          2  was at Paine Whitney. That is escaping, folks. When

          3  you escape from a locked ward, that is escaping.

          4  When you have a pass to leave an institution, that

          5  is not escaping. He had a pass.

          6                 What was the solution to Ruben

          7  Harris? The solution to Ruben Harris was to turn --

          8  they put forth legislation, the criminal justice

          9  act, and now they review everybody's criminal

         10  justice-- they review to see if the client has a

         11  criminal justice background.

         12                 Well, Ruben Harris was in the system.

         13  He was being treated. He was in a State hospital.

         14  Has anybody reviewed the quality of care in the

         15  State hospital? Who looked at what he was doing? Why

         16  weren't the proper questions asked?

         17                 So what I am trying to point out here

         18  is that it is a matter of perspective. What Dr.

         19  Cohen said, what Commissioner Cohen said sounded

         20  real good. But when I counted up the numbers I

         21  didn't see very big numbers.

         22                 Solutions. How do we develop

         23  solutions? It is hard to develop solutions in a

         24  climate that doesn't allow for people to look at

         25  things with a different perspective.
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          2                 The assumption that the biomedical

          3  model has the only reality in the treatment of

          4  so-called mentally ill people hinders the ability of

          5  everyone to think of, search out and create

          6  alternatives.

          7                 And mental patients and peers, we

          8  have worked on creating alternatives. There is a

          9  wonderful program that my friend put together with a

         10  paltry, paltry, paltry $60,000, in Staten Island she

         11  works her butt off and her peers work their butts

         12  off to link services and it is called PALS. We are

         13  working towards solutions and we have the ability to

         14  work towards solutions and we can speak for

         15  ourselves, and we try to speak for ourselves, but in

         16  a climate -- there is a climate in the City that is

         17  very oppressive, it is repressive, and involuntary

         18  outpatient commitment is part of the climate. Elliot

         19  Spitzer came along with a bill that follows the

         20  whole outpatient commitment except it makes it even

         21  a little bit easier to allow people to be treated in

         22  a community against their will. This is not correct.

         23                 I heard Commissioner Cohen say March

         24  1st he is supposed to prepare recommendations to the

         25  State Legislature, to the Mental Health Committee of
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          2  the senate and the assembly of the state, and I see

          3  the recommendations are to expand the program and to

          4  just balloon it.

          5                 It is so clear, if you read policy

          6  research associates, it said it wasn't the court

          7  order that made the differences, it was the

          8  coordination of services. How interesting. Why

          9  haven't they been coordinating services all along?

         10                 I see that the Commissioner has

         11  incorporated that now into his plan for the City of

         12  New York. A friend of mine said, why can't we court

         13  order providers to provide the services, and I kind

         14  of agree with her.

         15                 So, I hope I have presented a

         16  different perspective. I would like to be on this

         17  task force because I really feel clients want to

         18  know what works for people and how are we helped by

         19  existing services? Why aren't we doing research into

         20  that?

         21                 I would like to end right now because

         22  I know I don't want to take up too much time.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Seth Farber.

          3                 DR. FARBER: I am Dr. Farber, I have

          4  written three books and I have worked with so-called

          5  schizophrenic patients before, I have spoken to

          6  numerous of them in many different states. Many have

          7  called me because of my first book which tells the

          8  story of seven people who were termed chronically

          9  mentally ill and now are off psychiatric drugs.

         10                 I wanted to speak about, and I have

         11  seen these things happen in other states, so that is

         12  why I am opposing this forced patient commitment,

         13  involuntary outpatient commitment.

         14                 In the legislation it says that the

         15  mentally ill person, because of their illness, often

         16  reject outpatient treatment offered to them. Now, we

         17  will suggest that it is not because of their illness

         18  that they often reject outpatient treatment, and by

         19  that and in the op ed piece in the New York Times,

         20  probably many of you read, by the psychiatrist, she

         21  scoffed at those of us in these so-called civil

         22  liberties lobby who refuse to acknowledge that half

         23  of all schizophrenics have no insight into their

         24  illness and no understanding of why they need

         25  medication.
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          2                 I do not dispute, of course, that

          3  constricting the liberty rights of criminals is

          4  justifiable, but one of the main ploys used by

          5  proponents of outpatient commitment is to argue that

          6  it is humane and necessary measure, that among other

          7  results will protect society from crime. This has

          8  already been testified that mental illness does not

          9  lead to crime, therefore, this should not be a

         10  reason -- Andrew Goldstein has become the poster boy

         11  of those who are promoting forced treatment, and the

         12  egregious misconception in mental illness leads to

         13  crime should not become a justification for

         14  stripping non-criminal mental patients of their

         15  rights to oppose, refuse medication.

         16                 Now, what the proponents of forced

         17  treatment, who say that it is because of their

         18  mental illnesses that people don't -- that patients

         19  don't take medications that they resisted, they fail

         20  to acknowledge, and this is written about in all the

         21  standard psychiatric journals, I have yet to hear of

         22  psychiatrists or any of these proponents of this

         23  bill speak about tarda dyskinesia. Now that is

         24  simply the most popularized, it is the most written

         25  about in the standard psychiatric journals, which
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          2  are not written by dissidence within the mental

          3  health profession acknowledged that tarda dyskinesia

          4  is a serious problem.

          5                 Now, what is the prevalence rate of

          6  tarda dyskinesia, because I am picking this -- now,

          7  if you think tarda dyskinesia just happens to a

          8  small minority of people, then you might jump to the

          9  conclusion that it is a totally irrational and

         10  patients don't take the drugs because they have a

         11  resistance to getting better.

         12                 What you find, and I refer you to the

         13  task force report of the American Psychiatric

         14  Association on tarda dyskinesia, written in 1992,

         15  and you find -- well, let me tell you what tarda

         16  dyskinesia is first, in case you are not familiar

         17  with it. What I will then explain is how prevalent

         18  it is among the rate -- the rate is at least 20

         19  percent, it is actually higher than that, of 20

         20  percent of people on neuroleptic drugs. But it's a

         21  movement disorder that begins with uncontrolled

         22  movements of the fact, including the tongue, the

         23  lips and the mouth, tongue and chewing movements are

         24  common and often damage teeth, hands, feet, arms,

         25  legs, neck, backs, torso can be involved. Movements
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          2  displayed range from ticks, spasms and tremors to

          3  riving contortions. Respiration, swallowing and

          4  speech may be affected.

          5                 Now, I don't have to tell you that

          6  not only does this have tremendously painful and

          7  disabling physiological affects, you can imagine the

          8  psychological affects of this kind of illness caused

          9  by the psychiatric drugs themselves.

         10                 Now, in this APA, 1992 task force

         11  report, the Chairman of the report was a medical

         12  doctor, psychiatrist Dr. Kane. He examined 2,000

         13  patients. He is in favor of maintenance medication,

         14  of giving psychiatric drugs. He considers it, the

         15  task force considers it the treatment of choice. I

         16  know from my own experience, talking to thousands of

         17  people around the country, that there are

         18  alternatives, choices that do not use neuroleptic

         19  medications.

         20                 Now, of the people that were no these

         21  neuroleptic medications, the drugs like Haldol,

         22  prolixin and numerous other ones, that are called,

         23  the technical name is neuroleptics, of the people in

         24  the study, the 2,000 people, to look at the ones in

         25  Creedmore, you find that 36 percent of them, and the
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          2  average number -- these are chronic mental patients,

          3  this is an average group of mental patients, that

          4  have been on it for over ten years and 36 percent of

          5  them had tarda dyskinesia. That is an

          6  understatement, because what he then looked at was

          7  how many had mass cases of tarda dyskinesia. Of

          8  those two-thirds who showed no indication of tarda

          9  dyskinesia, took a random sample and he found that

         10  of those two thirds, an additional 67 percent had

         11  tarda dyskinesia, the disease that I have just

         12  described.

         13                 So, therefore, we can conclude at

         14  least two-thirds of patients who have been on

         15  neuroleptic drugs for more than ten years are going

         16  to come down with tarda dyskinesia.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Excuse me a

         18  minute, Dr. Farber. I see the seniors coming in,

         19  this room will be used in the next ten minutes, so

         20  if you can wind up or send us your recommendations,

         21  written, I will appreciate --

         22                 DR. FARBER: May I wind up with one

         23  paragraph?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes, sure.

         25                 DR. FARBER: This is from Justice
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          2  Stevens in 1990, Justice Stevens of the Supreme

          3  Court, which he wrote the minority opinion, but I

          4  quote him because he spoke most eloquently. And the

          5  Court acknowledged, "both the majority and the

          6  minority, under the 14th Amendment individuals

          7  possess a significant liberty interest in avoiding

          8  the administration, unwanted administration of

          9  antipsychotic drugs", and Justice Stevens said,

         10   "every violation of a person's bodily integrity is

         11  an invasion of his or her liberty. The invasion is

         12  particularly intrusive if it creates a substantial

         13  risk of permanent injury and premature, as do

         14  psychotic drugs. And when the purpose or effect of

         15  forced drugging is to alter the will and mind of the

         16  subject, it constitutes a deprivation of liberty in

         17  the most literal and fundamental sense."

         18                 One more sentence. He said, "A

         19  competent individual's right to refuse psychotropic

         20  medication is an aspect of liberty requiring the

         21  highest order of protection under the 14th

         22  Amendment."

         23                 For this reason I oppose that bill.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: If you can

         25  further send us your recommendation because we want
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          2  diverse opinions, so it would be very welcome to

          3  have your remarks and your statement on the matter.

          4                 Is Ray Brescia here?

          5                 MR. BRESCIA: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are you going to

          7  serve on the --

          8                 MR. BRESCIA: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, could you

         10  defer your statement, or you want it on the record?

         11                 MR. BRESCIA: Can I have a few

         12  minutes?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes, sure.

         14                 MR. BRESCIA: Thank you very much,

         15  Madame Chair, Council Member Reed.

         16                 My name is Ray Brescia. I am the

         17  Director of the Mental Health Project at the Urban

         18  Justice Center. I am class counsel in the matter,

         19  the Koskinos matter that Commissioner Cohen

         20  mentioned, and I am also co-chair of the Citywide

         21  Task Force on Medicaid Managed Care.

         22                 The comments I wanted to have on the

         23  record just have to deal with, I have to respond to

         24  the statements of Commissioner Cohen, and just to

         25  sort of put some things in perspective and deal with
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          2  some of the immensity of the problems that we are

          3  dealing with.

          4                 Commissioner Cohen mentioned that

          5  there were 1,200 inmates who receive LINK services.

          6  There are 15,000 serious and persistent mentally ill

          7  individuals who are cycled through Rikers every

          8  year, so it is less than ten percent of those

          9  individuals that receive the LINK services.

         10                 And I have dealt with some of the

         11  inmates who have received those services and,

         12  frankly, they are not worth the paper that they are

         13  written on, if they are written at all, the sort of

         14  discharge plans that they provide.

         15                 There are -- Rikers Island has, there

         16  are 25,000 at any given day seriously persistently

         17  mentally ill individuals on Rikers, it makes it

         18  clearly the largest psychiatric facility in the

         19  state, and probably one of the largest in the world.

         20  Maybe you might find some in the former Soviet Union

         21  that are that large.

         22                 In terms of -- I implore you to visit

         23  C71, which is the inpatient unit on Rikers and meet

         24  with some of the folks who are trying to get their

         25  life back together but don't have the services there

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            104

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  to do it.

          3                 In terms of police training, the

          4  City, the Police Department, I believe it was last

          5  year, had 38,000 EDP visits, Emotionally Disturbed

          6  Visits, last year. That is 100 a day. Thirty-eight

          7  thousand visits making them, I would suggest, the

          8  largest outpatient psychiatric services agency in

          9  the world, and they have 16 hours of training.

         10                 Since the death of Mr. Cerbelli, the

         11  Urban Justice Center, through the Kevin Cerbelli

         12  Coalition, along with NAMI and 15 other agencies

         13  have requested a meeting with Commissioner Safir to

         14  talk about, simply talk about the training that the

         15  Police Department receives, and we have received a

         16  curt letter from their Legal Department saying we

         17  are investigating the matter and we believe

         18  everything is fine. So, we will get back to you if

         19  we see there is a problem.

         20                 One-hundred EDP visits a day, 38,000

         21  visits a year, 16 hours of training, I think the

         22  math is pretty stunning.

         23                 In terms of the special needs, I

         24  implore the City Council to look again at the

         25  Medicaid. The Managed Care Consumer Assistance
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          2  Program, which was originally funded by the Council

          3  1.5 million, it was supposed to be increased over

          4  three years, the Mayor's budget cut it back to one

          5  million for one year, and there is no plan to put

          6  any more money into that. So, again, you know,

          7  almost a million people are receiving Medicaid

          8  managed care when that comes on line, and you know,

          9  that is a dollar a day for one year that the

         10  ombudsman program can provide services to them.

         11                 Lastly, the welfare issues. We just

         12  heard it mentioned last week that shelters now are

         13  going to be subject to workfare, sort of the last,

         14  the catch-all, the last bastion of services will now

         15  be subject to workfare. I invite you to come to HS

         16  systems and look at the people. Yesterday I was

         17  there, 24 people or 25 people standing on line in

         18  freezing weather, all of them sic, waiting to get

         19  their medical appointments. They all have to come

         20  back four or five more times before they are

         21  determined exempt, if they are determined exempt. If

         22  they miss one of those appointments, they will get a

         23  job site assignment.

         24                 The mixing shelter and workfare and

         25  sanctioning shelter not only violates the Callahan
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          2  Decree but certainly is just inhumane.

          3                 I want to close on the comment by

          4  Jason Turner linked to this, which is, we have to

          5  create a crisis in people's lives. Is Jason Turner

          6  going to pick up the pieces when the crisis in

          7  people's lives result in injury to them, results in

          8  death to them, or injury to others?

          9                 Mixing -- it's fire and oil. It is

         10  putting out fire with gasoline by saying create a

         11  crisis in the lives of the mentally ill, which Jason

         12  Turner wants to do.

         13                 So, thank you very much. Sorry if I

         14  rushed a little bit. I appreciate the time to speak.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You will have

         16  plenty of time to talk, as we have put this task

         17  force together. I wanted it on the record and I

         18  thank you.

         19                 MR. BRESCIA: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: But there is a

         21  question from my colleague.

         22                 MR. BRESCIA: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you,

         24  Madame Chair.

         25                 I was stunned by the numbers, I am
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          2  trying to understand what the total population at

          3  Rikers. As Council members and as advocates we hear

          4  so many numbers about so many things.

          5                 MR. BRESCIA: I know that the numbers

          6  are 25,000 -- 2,500 seriously and persistently

          7  mentally ill at any given time.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You said 25,000,

          9  that was the part --

         10                 MR. BRESCIA: Oh, I am sorry. It is

         11  2,500.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I couldn't

         13  imagine we could have 25,000.

         14                 MR. BRESCIA: I apologize.

         15                 I said 38,000 EDP visits, but 15,000

         16  people cycle through a year who are mentally ill.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And my question

         18  is, how do we know? I mean, have these people been

         19  given a diagnosis?

         20                 MR. BRESCIA: They receive -- it's

         21  interesting. I forget who it was, but I think

         22  someone from OMH once described Rikers as being sort

         23  of the model of the community mental health system.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, then if

         25  the question is -- was the evaluation done at
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          2  Rikers?

          3                 MR. BRESCIA: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So that number

          5  comes from Rikers themselves?

          6                 MR. BRESCIA: Yes. And people in both

          7  general population and receiving inpatient services.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

          9                 MR. BRESCIA: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: David Lehmann.

         11                 MR. LEHMANN: I will pass.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You will pass,

         13  okay.

         14                 The Aging Committee will meet in this

         15  room. We are now seeking to go across the street.

         16  You know only 25 people can go through the gate at a

         17  time, but we are seeking to use the red room over at

         18  City Hall for a few minutes so we can start our

         19  organizing of the body.

         20                 If you will just give me a minute so

         21  I can get my coat on, then I will lead you across

         22  the street.

         23                 And Council member, I would like to

         24  invite you, if you will, to be a member.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 12:40 p.m.)
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